# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 9 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MARVIN V. TAYLOR,

Appellant,

vs.

DOCKET # 81,446

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JAMES R. THIES, SR., ESQUIRE Florida Bar #340111 Post Office Box 815 Orange Park, FL 32067-0815 (904) 264-8602 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant was the Defendant in the Trial Court and will hereafter be referred to as "Appellant". Appellee will hereinafter be referred to as "State". The Record on Appeal is contained in three (3) volumes. Volumes one through three will be referred to by the symbol "R". All references will include appropriate page number designations. The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal is attached as an appendix and will be referred to with the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This is an Appeal by Writ of Certiorari from the First District Court of Appeal based upon a prosecution and trial from the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, Clay County, Florida, wherein the Defendant, MARVIN V. TAYLOR (hereinafter referred to as "Appellant"), was convicted of one count of Sale or Delivery of Cocaine in violation of Florida Statute, \$893.13(1)(a)(1).

The Appellant was arrested on July 11, 1991 pursuant to an arrest warrant. (R2) This conviction by jury trial was based upon a two count information filed by the State against Appellant for Sale or Delivery of Cocaine. Count I of the information alleged a drug transaction in Clay County, Florida, on June 7, 1991. Count II alleged a drug transaction on June 21, 1991. (R5) The jury found the Appellant guilty in Count I and not guilty in Count II at trial on November 5, 1991. (R32-33)

The Appellant filed a Demand for Discovery on July 26, 1991, (R7-10), to which the State of Florida responded on August 2, 1991. (R13-14) Prior to trial and after discovery depositions on October 9, 1991 of the State's key witnesses, the Appellant filed a Motion for Production of Favorable Evidence on October 29, 1991. (R18) In this Motion for Production of Favorable Evidence, the Appellant was very specific as to requesting documents within the State's control as to drug purchases made by the State's confidential informant, Gerald Jefferson, who later became the State's key witness (only

eyewitness) against Appellant. Said request asked for documents pertaining to monies paid to the informant to effectuate buys for the Clay County Sheriff's Office. (R18)

The State took the position they did not have to respond to the Motion for Favorable Evidence. In response, the Appellant filed a Motion to Compel Discovery with the Trial Court on November 4, 1991, the day of jury selection in the Appellant's trial. (R19-23) On the same date Appellant filed a Motion to Issue Subpoena Duces Tecum, (R24-26), asking for the same documents to be produced at trial by the Clay County Sheriff's Office as requested in the Motion for Favorable Evidence. In response, the State filed a Motion to Quash Subpoena Duces Tecum on November 4, 1991. (R27-28) The Court subsequently entered an order on November 4, 1991, ordering the disclosure of the State's key witness' criminal record, but denying the Motion to Compel Discovery in all other The Court denied the Appellant's Motion to Issue Subpoena Duces Tecum and granted the State's Motion to Quash Subpoena Duces Tecum. (R29)

At trial, the State had two witnesses testify as to the actual drug transactions of June 7, 1991 and June 21, 1991. The first witness to testify was Detective Cecil J. Jett who hired and supervised the confidential informant. Following Detective Jett, the informant, Gerald Jefferson, testified.

As it relates to the issues before this Court, Detective Jett testified:

- The informant had come to him wanting to do drug buys for money. Detective Jett did not seek the informant out. (R131)
- 2) In discussing the financial arrangements with the informant, Detective Jett stated;
  - Q At that time, did you make any financial arrangements with Mr. Jefferson?
  - A He was told he would be paid for them, yes, sir.
  - Q Did you tell him how much?
  - A It depended on how big the case was and depended on how involved he wanted to get.
  - Q Okay. So what you told him in this initial conversation, if I understand you right, "Listen, it will be up to us. The bigger the case, the more money we'll pay you."
  - A Yes, sir.
  - Q You didn't tell him a price per transaction?
  - A No, sir.
  - Q And you didn't tell him what a limit would be, is that correct?
  - A No, sir. (R131-132)
- 3) It was possible the informant had been paid approximately \$2,000.00 for between 40-60 drug deals. (R132-133)
- 4) The informant was still working for him and had been paid money the week before. (R134)
- 5) The informant was told beforehand that he would be paid to testify in court and that he was being paid for his testimony that day. (R134)
- 6) He knew the informant was a convicted felon. (R135)

- 7) The informant had told him (Detective Jett) that he (informant) was a drug user, but that he felt there was no reason to have the informant checked to see if he continued to use drugs. (R135)
- 8) As to his (Detective Jett's) monitoring of the June 7th drug transaction;
  - a. he did not witness the drug transaction, (R139)
  - b. in testifying as to what he heard of the drug transaction,
    - Q Okay. So you didn't see him pull up there. What I'm after is what is it that you heard on the tape?
    - A Just what's been on the tape. He get's out of the car and asked --
    - Q Who's he?
    - A Gerald Jefferson get's out of the car and asked Mr. Taylor for sixty. Mr. Taylor said, "Sixty"? He said, yeah, sixty. And that's all I heard on the tape.
    - Q You didn't hear anything else?
    - A Nothing else.
    - Q Although Mr. Jefferson's wearing a body bug, you didn't hear any other conversation?
    - A No, sir.
    - Q That's the end of it?
    - A That's the end of it. (R139)
  - c. The informant did at least six buys that day and made approximately \$120.00, but it could have been more or less. (R143)
- 9) The Sheriff's Office keeps records that would tell how many drug deals were made by this informant and how much he was paid. (R144)

- 10) He did not review his records as to the number of drug transactions made or money paid to the informant because he felt it was not relevant. (R149)
- 11) He did not know how many drug transactions the informant had conducted with the co-defendant, Robert Tisdale; totally, before June 7th or after June 21st. All of this information was available, but he (Detective Jett) did not feel it was relevant. (R149)

The next witness to testify was the informant, Gerald Jefferson. During Mr. Jefferson's testimony he stated:

- 1) He began working for Detective Jett he thinks in June, but, he couldn't remember. He approached Detective Jett to ask for the work. (R176)
- 2) He would make deals for Detective Jett if he was paid. (176)
- 3) He denied continuing to work for Detective Jett as recently as the week before trial. (R176)
- 4) He had been paid forty dollars the week before for attending a deposition. (R177)
- 5) When questioned as to how much he was being paid to testify in Court that day;
  - Q ... How much is he paying you for coming in here and testifying today?
  - A I don't know, but I'm sure he'll probably treat me right.
  - Q You two haven't discussed that?
  - A No, we haven't.

- 6) He could not say how much he had been paid or how many deals he had conducted for Detective Jett. (R178)
- 7) He had been paid up to \$200-\$250 in a day. (R179)
- 8) He denied discussing with Detective Jett his drug usage, stated it was none of the Defense attorney's business and that he would not be screen tested for drug usage. He admitted he had never been tested for drugs since working for the Sheriff's Office. (R206)
- 9) He couldn't recall if he and Detective Jett had gone over what his testimony would be in court that day answering, "I don't Know", but did acknowledge he, Detective Jett and Assistant State Attorney Stacey Myers had reviewed the video tape. (R174)
- 10) When discussing the October 9,1991 deposition concerning the June 7th transaction, he testified;
  - Q On October 9th when I was questioning you as I am today, I asked you the date when the first transaction took place. Do you recall what you said?
  - A I could have said anything at that time because I hadn't reviewed the video.
  - Q It's not on the video Mr. Jefferson, you had to review something else.
  - A I just told you, the video and the reports.
  - Q Okay. So now you've had a chance to refresh your memory with the reports.
  - A Right.
  - Q Mr. Jefferson, On October 9, 1991 at the time I questioned you about the June 7th incident, did you not say you wanted a \$20 hit or a twenty--

- A Well, at that time I had. Like I said, I hadn't reviewed the videos and the report. I had made a buy prior to that to Robert Tisdale for a twenty.
- Q Uh'huh.
- A And that's probably where I got mixed up.
- Q And also, didn't you say that Robert came back to you and sold you one rock for twenty dollars...
- Q Do you remember saying that Mr. Jefferson?
- A I could have said it, I don't remember. But I know that--
- Q Well, there's page twenty-six, staring on line 14. You said, "What I saw was, he went to Marvin, come back to me with dope. Sold me twenty dollars worth of dope and I left." Do you recall saying that?
- A I don't recall, but I could have said it.
- Q Mr. Jefferson, how is it you don't recall what you said on October 9, 1991 as we speak today?
- A October 9th?
- Q Yeah, that's a month ago. It's not even a month ago.
- A It's been a month ago.
- Q And you can't recall what you said on that day?
- A No I don't. (R187-191)
- 11) His trial testimony on November 5, 1991 as to what occurred during the alleged drug transaction on June 7, 1991 was as follows;
  - Q Now, you said someone else came along at this point?
  - A Yes they did.
  - Q Who would that be?
  - A Robert Tisdale.
  - Q And what happened then?
  - A Then all three of us walked behind the car and I saw him give Robert something out of his pocket and Robert turned around and it was rock. Robert sold me three \$20 rocks.

- Q And what did you do when Robert gave you those rocks?
- A Then I told him thank you man and we turned to the car and then I called his name out.
- Q Did you give him the money for the rocks?
- A Sixty dollars.
- Q Now you said the defendant pulled something out of his pocket.
- A His right hand pocket.
- Q And what makes you think that what the defendant pulled out of his pocket was the rocks that you bought?
- A Well, they was all right there. Him and Robert together and he turned straight around and handed him what he gave him.
- Q And they were --
- A Rocks. (R157-158)
- 12) He made no type of report (written or recorded) of what he did on June 7, 1991, but did review others' reports of the incident. (R172, 173, 174)
- 13) He could not get the June 7, 1991 drug transaction on video, he did get audio, and he got the Appellant on tape getting out of his car. (R163-164)

The Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial on November 15, 1991. (R37-39) The Motion was based upon the above discovery issues, a due process violation for the State's paying an informant for his testimony at trial, and the State's failure to disclose to Appellant they had taken a sworn statement on November 1, 1991, (Friday before trial) of the co-defendant, Robert Tisdale, who was present at both drug transactions. The co-defendant, Robert Tisdale, was never listed on the State's Response to Demand for

Discovery, nor was his sworn statement. (R13 & R15) The Trial Court denied Defendant's Motion for New Trial on November 25, 1991. (R40) The Appellant was sentenced on November 27, 1991, to one year in the county jail and was adjudicated guilty of the crime.

The Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on November 27, 1991. (R50) Appellant raised three issues on Appeal stating: 1) The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss based upon the competency of the informant to testify, or alternatively, in denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss on the issue of a Due Process Violation; 2) The Trial Court erred in denying various Discovery Motions before and at Trial committed at trial; and 3) The Trial Court erred in not finding a Brady Violation for the State's failure to disclose they had taken a sworn statement of the Co-defendant, Robert Tisdale, before trial and had failed to list it in their Response to Discovery or to notify Appellant.

The First District Court of Appeal filed its opinion in this case on January 11, 1993. Appellant filed a Motion for rehearing or for clarification of the First District Court of Appeal's Decision on January 19, 1993. Said Motion was denied on February 19, 1993, and the First District Court of Appeal entered its Mandate on March 9, 1993. The Notice for this Court to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction was filed March 17, 1993, and a Writ of Certiorari was granted on July 15, 1993.

The First District Court of Appeal ruled the government paying a confidential informant for his court testimony as demonstrated in

the instant case was not a Due Process Violation. The First District Court of Appeal reasoned that confidential informants could be paid for their court testimony because in State v.

Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985), the Florida Supreme Court; a) was dealing with a case where the testimony in a criminal trial by a confidential informant would result in a financial gain to the confidential informant through civil forfeitures, b) held that the proper method for raising a due process violation was before trial, not during a motion for a new trial, and c) held that in Glosson, each defendant asserted an entrapment defense where there was an enormous financial incentive for the informants to testify falsely in order for there to be a successful prosecution.

The First District Court of Appeal further stated the Trial Court was correct in denying Appellant's Motion to Compel Discovery, since the requested information would not support a Due Process Violation. The Appellate Court also stated the requested information was not required in order to impeach the testimony of the State's two witnesses to the transactions - the confidential informant, Gerald Jefferson, or Detective Jett. (See Opinion of First District Court of Appeals - Case No.: 91-3962 as appendix "A")

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WAS NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION COMMITTED BY THE STATE IN PAYING ITS INFORMANT TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL.

At trial, the State had to rely totally upon its only eyewitness to the drug transactions of June 7, 1991 and June 21, 1991 (who was a paid confidential informant of the Clay County Sheriff's Office) in order to prosecute the cases against Appellant. This confidential informant sought out Detective Jett for the purpose of making money by doing undercover drug buys. It is clear from the trial testimony of Detective Jett that a contingency fee arrangement was struck between him and the confidential informant who was told he would be paid based upon how big the case was and how involved the confidential informant wanted to become with the drug operation. (R131-132) Not only was the confidential informant paid various amounts for each drug transaction (usually \$20.00), but he was paid for testifying at deposition (R178) and at trial against the Appellant. The only thing the confidential informant knew about how much he would be paid for his trial testimony was that Detective Jett would "probably treat me right". (R177)

The state action of paying a confidential informant for making drug cases and paying him to testify in subsequent court proceedings is clearly contrary to the holdings of the Florida Supreme Court in <u>State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla.1985) and <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla.1991).

The First District Court of Appeal in its opinion in the case at bar cited several cases to demonstrate exceptions to the Florida Supreme Court's holding in <u>Glosson</u>, supra. Appellant agrees the cited cases are distinguishable from <u>Glosson</u>, but argues the instant case does not fit within the four corners or reasoning of the First District Court of Appeal's cited cases. The instant case fits squarely within the four corners of <u>Glosson</u> and requires the reversal of Appellant's conviction.

# II. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WAS NO DISCOVERY VIOLATION COMMITTED BY THE STATE AND TRIAL COURT UNDER FLORIDA DISCOVERY RULES.

Based upon the First District Court of Appeal's finding there was no Due Process Violation, the Appellate Court held the Trial Court was correct in denying Appellant's Motion to Compel Discovery. Appellant argues the issue of a Discovery Violation in the instant case is more complex than the First District Court of Appeal suggests in its opinion.

At the trial level, Appellant made every attempt through various methods of discovery to gain documentation as to the drug transactions completed by the State's confidential informant especially those involving the Appellant and his Co-Defendant, Robert Tisdale. The requested information was material and extremely relevant to clear up discrepancies which became known at the depositions of Detective Jett and the confidential informant. The requested information was to learn the amounts of money paid to the informant throughout his employment with the Sheriff's Office,

especially on the dates of the charged offenses and to gain information as to drug transactions involving the Co-defendant, Robert Tisdale.

It was clear to Appellant after taking the depositions of the State's witnesses that the critical information sought would not be forthcoming from the State Attorney's Office, the State's confidential informant or from the Clay County Sheriff's Office without the Court ordering it. At trial, the Appellant's defense continued to suffer as neither Detective Jett nor the informant would or could give this same requested information in order to clear up the numerous inconsistencies in their testimony. Detective Jett even went so far as to say that although this information was available, it was not relevant. (R149)

The Appellant made an attempt to gain this documented evidence through the filing of a Motion for Production of Favorable Evidence on October 29, 1991, (R18); the filing of a Motion to Compel Discovery on November 4, 1991, (R19-23); and finally through filing a Motion to have a Subpoena Duces Tecum issued for trial on November 4, 1991. (R24-26) Appellant argued to the Trial Court this information was necessary to adequately prepare a defense for the Appellant and for the purposes of impeaching the State's witnesses. Appellant argued this documentary evidence was material to Appellant's case and should have been made available to Appellant under Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure on the various discovery motions filed under Rule 3.220 and under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

In addition to the above described discovery issues, a new discovery violation was discovered at the court hearing for Appellant's Motion for New Trial on November 21, 1991. The State conceded a discovery violation had potentially occurred by their failure to disclose to Appellant that Robert Tisdale, the codefendant to Appellant, had given a sworn statement to the State the Friday before trial. (R299-300) At the hearing, the State agreed that Robert Tisdale had not been listed on their response to Appellant's Demand for Discovery, but, felt this violation was excusable because Robert Tisdale was known to the Appellant and that the co-defendant's name had come up through the discovery process. (R299) The State further argued this discovery violation was moot because the appropriate remedy would have been to exclude the co-defendant's statement from trial.

Appellant argues before this Supreme Court it is the lack of information that should have been given to Appellant that created prejudice to the Appellant. Not gaining this evidence prevented Appellant from preparing an adequate defense for and at trial. Appellant argues the First District Court of Appeal was overly restrictive by only addressing the issue of the Motion to Compel Discovery in its opinion.

The First District Court of Appeal ruled the Trial Court was correct in its ruling because: 1) There was no Due Process Violation; 2) Such information was not required by Rule 3.220, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure; and, 3) that the Trial Court felt impeachment could adequately be accomplished by pointing out

the inconsistencies of the witnesses' testimony. Appellant's other arguments as to the total discovery issue were dismissed as being without merit.

Appellant argues that the volume of material requested and denied along with the failure to disclose the Co-defendant's statement is so prejudicial that Appellant did not receive a fair trial and the conviction must be reversed and a new trial ordered.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WAS NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION COMMITTED BY THE STATE IN PAYING ITS INFORMANT TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL.

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