IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WHITE 🖉 SID J2 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

- -

MARVIN V. TAYLOR,

Petitioner,

v.

,

CASE NO. 81,446

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY, #593280 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, #325791 BUREAU CHIEF-CRIMINAL APPEALS

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

No due process violation occurred in the instant case. The facts demonstrate that the informer was paid an insignificant amount of money for purchasing crack cocaine from a street vendor and testifying against him at trial. While there was no evidence of improper inducement, there was plenty of evidence of Taylor's predisposition to commit the crime. A mere offer to buy cocaine, which is what happened here, hardly creates a serious risk of causing a law-abiding citizen to commit a crime. On the other hand, Taylor's immediate compliance with the informer's request on a public street indicates that he was ready and willing to commit this crime at the first available opportunity. Had he not sold the cocaine to the informer, he would have sold it to someone else.

To ensure that the informer would not use improper inducements or pressure or later misrepresent the facts, the police closely supervised his conduct, including the use of audio and video equipment. Their extensive involvement in the drug deal diminished, if not eliminated, the risk of ensnaring an innocent person.

The informer was paid for his time in court. Compensation agreements to obtain trial testimony are a common occurrence. Experts are paid a fee, policemen are paid a salary, and codefendants are given leniency, if not outright immunity from prosecution, in exchange for their truthful testimony. Notwithstanding their bias, however weak or strong, these persons

- 10 -

are all permitted to testify simply because their testimony is critical to a successful prosecution. Their compensation is not contingent on a certain result (conviction) but rather on the performance of a certain act (testifying). Defendants too are permitted to testify even though they have the strongest motive of all to lie. The opportunity for rigorous cross-examination and the giving of standard jury instructions on weighing the witnesses' credibility provide adequate safeguards for both parties against possible abuses.

The State respectfully declines to address on the merits the other issues raised by Taylor, unless directed to do so, inasmuch as this Court accepted conflict jurisdiction on an entirely different issue, the one discussed above. These other issues are either completely lacking in merit or, at the very least, involve harmless error.

- 11 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT NO DUE PROCESS VIOLATION OCCURRED WHEN THE POLICE AGREED TO PAY AN INFORMER TO PARTICIPATE IN CONTROLLED DRUG BUYS AND TO TESTIFY IN DEPOSITION AND IN COURT.

The police hired Gerald Jefferson on a part-time basis to engage in undercover investigations. They paid him \$20 for purchasing crack cocaine from Taylor, \$40 for testifying at deposition, and a reasonable sum for testifying in court. The police took every precaution to ensure that Jefferson would not use improper inducements or pressure or later misrepresent the facts. They closely supervised his initiation and participation in the drug deal involving Taylor. They provided him with an undercover vehicle and \$60 in cash to purchase drugs, searched him and the vehicle immediately before and after the drug deal, installed a video camera in the vehicle and a body bug on Jefferson, and retrieved three rocks of crack cocaine from him immediately after completion of the drug deal. Detective Jett heard Jefferson ask for "60," and a voice, later identified as Taylor's respond, "60?' to which Jefferson said, "Yeah, 60," which is street slang for "\$60 worth of crack cocaine." The videotape showed Taylor exiting his vehicle. The police used Jefferson on a part-time basis to conduct controlled buys of crack cocaine from other unsuspecting street vendors. No testimony was elicited at trial to even remotely suggest that Jefferson's fee for testifying at trial was contingent on a

- 12 -

conviction, only that it was contingent on his testifying. No doubt the police postponed paying Jefferson until after he had done his work to diminish the risk of Jefferson being influenced to change his mind about testifying.

Based on the above facts, Taylor asks this Court to discharge him from custody on the ground that the State violated his due process rights. Taylor asserts that anytime the police pay an informer to engage in undercover investigations and to testify in court, due process is violated. The State respectfully disagrees.

An informer is a citizen who contracts with the police to engage in undercover work in exchange for some type of compensation, such as cash or promises of leniency (forego filing charges for illegal activities, reduce or drop pending charges, recommend a lighter sentence, or recommend a reduction in sentence). Informers are used by the police the world over, in particular to enforce the laws proscribing such behavior as gambling, prostitution, bribery, extortion, loan-sharking, labor racketeering, and drug trafficking. Informers are a vital component of law enforcement, for undercover investigation is sometimes the only effective means of detecting, investigating, and successfully prosecuting criminals, particularly those who engage in consensual criminal activity.

Hoffa v. United States, 385 U. S. 293 (1966) is instructive. Jimmy Hoffa was tried in federal court in Nashville, Tennessee for violating the Taft-Hartley Act. During the course of his

- 13 -

trial, known as the Test Fleet trial, Edward Partin, a Louisiana Teamsters Union official who was under state and federal indictments himself, contacted Hoffa and asked if he could come to Nashville to discuss some union matters with him. Partin visited Hoffa in his hotel suite and after several visits became Hoffa's confidant. This relationship made it possible for Partin to overhear conversations between Hoffa and his attorneys concerning the bribing of certain jurors. Partin relayed this information to federal agents. The Test Fleet trial resulted in a hung jury. Hoffa was then indicted and convicted for jury tampering on the basis of Partin's testimony.

After the Test Fleet trial was completed, Partin's wife was paid \$1,200 over a four-month period from government funds, and the state and federal charges against Partin were either dropped or not actively pursued. Notwithstanding this evidence, the existence of a prearranged agreement between Partin and the government was in dispute, but for the sake of argument, the supreme court accepted the defense position that such agreement existed. Hoffa's argument that the government's conduct violated his due process rights was soundly rejected by the court:

> The argument boils down to a general attack upon the use of a government informer as "a shabby thing in any case," and to the claim that in the circumstances of this particular case the risk that Partin's testimony might be perjurious was very high. Insofar as the general attack upon the use of informers is based upon historic "notions" of "Englishspeaking peoples," it is without historical foundation. In the words of Judge Learned Hand, "Courts have countenanced the use of

> > - 14 -

informers from time immemorial; in cases of conspiracy, or in other cases when the crime consists of preparing for another crime, it is usually necessary to rely upon them or upon accomplices because the criminals will almost certainly proceed covertly.

This is not to say that a secret government informer is to the slightest degree more free from all relevant constitutional restrictions than is any other government agent. It is to say that the use of secret informers is not per se unconstitutional.

The petitioner is quite correct in the contention that Partin, perhaps even more than most informers, may have had motives to lie. But it does not follow that his testimony was untrue, nor does it follow that his testimony was constitutionally inadmissible. The established safequards of the Anglo-American legal system leave the veracity of a witness to be tested by crossexamination, and the credibility of his testimony to be determined by a properly instructed jury. At the trial of this case, Partin was subjected to rigorous crossexamination, and the extent and nature of his dealings with federal and state authorities were insistently explored. The trial judge instructed the jury, both specifically and generally, with regard to assessing Partin's credibility. The Constitution does not require us to upset the jury's verdict. [citations omitted]

<u>Id.</u>, at 311-312.

This Court has also approved the government's use of contingent compensation for the purpose of hiring informers to engage in undercover investigation and testify at trial. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Ingram v. Prescott</u>, 149 So. 369 (1933) (trial testimony); <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 185 So. 625, 628 (1939) (trial testimony); <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319, 321 (Fla. 1991) (undercover investigation).

In Ingram, this court stated:

From the earliest times, it has been found necessary, for the detection and punishment of crime, for the state to resort to the criminals themselves for testimony with which to convict their confederates in crime. While such a course offers a premium to treachery, and sometimes permits the more guilty to escape, it tends to prevent and break up combinations, by making criminals suspicious of each other, and it often leads to the punishment of guilty persons who would otherwise escape. Therefore, on the ground of public policy, it has been uniformly held that a state may contract with a criminal for his exemption from prosecution if he shall honestly and fairly make a full disclosure of the crime, whether the party testified against is convicted or not.

<u>Id.</u>, at 369 (e. s.).

The Florida Legislature and Congress also encourage the use of informers by providing rewards for information leading to the conviction of violators of various state and federal laws. <u>See</u>, <u>e.q.</u>, § 790.164(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (\$5,000 reward); § 893.135(4), Fla. Stat. (sentence reduction); 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e) (sentence reduction); Tariff Act of 1930, 19 U.S.C. § 1619; Food and Drugs Act, 21 U.S.C. § 886(a); and Int. Rev. Code of 1954, § 7623.

The possibility that a paid informer will tell the police what they want to hear and testify to such facts in court was the primary concern of this Court in <u>State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1985). There, the Sheriff of Levy County hired Norwood Wilson as an undercover investigator. His duties included initiating drug deals, participating in drug deals, and testifying in court. He was to be paid ten percent of the proceeds received from civil forfeiture actions resulting from the criminal investigations. Payment was contingent on successful prosecutions and forfeiture actions. This court described the terms of the agreement as follows:

> These [dismissal] motions relied primarily upon the agreement between the sheriff and Wilson whereby Wilson would receive ten percent of all civil forfeitures arising out of successful criminal investigations he completed in Levy County. * * *

The parties stipulated ... that Wilson had an oral agreement with the sheriff ...; that Wilson would receive ten percent of all civil forfeiture proceedings resulting from the criminal investigations initiated and participated in by him; that the contingent fee would be paid out of civil forfeitures received by the sheriff; that Wilson must testify and cooperate in criminal prosecutions resulting from his investigations in order to collect the contingent fee;

Id., at 1083.

Wilson traveled from Levy County to Dade County where he made a deal to sell several hundred pounds of marijuana to six persons. These six persons came to Levy County, took possession of the marijuana that was unknowingly controlled by the Sheriff, and soon afterwards were arrested. The Sheriff seized several vehicles and over \$80,000 in cash that were subject to civil forfeiture. Wilson's testimony was critical to a successful prosecution of the six defendants. The defendants' theory of defense was entrapment. Wilson's fee for his work in this case would have been \$8,000 plus 10% of the value of the several automobiles that were seized, assuming, of course, that the sheriff prevailed in the forfeiture action.

- 17 -

Based on the above facts, this Court held that the defendants' due process rights were violated:

We ... hold that the agreement in this case to pay an informant a contingent fee conditioned on his cooperation and testimony in criminal prosecutions violates constitutional due process. Id., at 1084.

Our examination of this case convinces us that the contingent fee agreement with the informant and vital state witness, Wilson, violated the respondents' due process right under our state constitution. According to the stipulated facts, the state attorney's office knew about Wilson's contingent fee agreement and supervised his criminal investigations. Wilson had to testify and cooperate in criminal prosecutions in order to receive his contingent fee from the connected civil forfeitures, and criminal convictions could not be obtained in this case without his testimony. We can imagine few situations with more potential for abuse of a defendant's due process right. The informant here had an enormous financial incentive not only to make criminal cases, but also to color his testimony or even commit perjury in pursuit of the contingent The due process rights of all citizens fee. require us to forbid criminal prosecutions based upon the testimony of vital state witnesses who have what amounts to a financial stake in criminal convictions.

Accordingly, we hold that a trial court may properly dismiss criminal charges for constitutional due process violations in cases where an informant stands to gain a contingent fee conditioned on cooperation and testimony in the criminal prosecution when that testimony is critical to a successful prosecution. Id., at 1085.

<u>Glosson</u> was further explained by this Court in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Hunter</u>, <u>supra</u>:

<u>Glosson</u> is very fact specific [T]he informant would be paid only if he testified and the state won a conviction. The possibility, perhaps even probability, of perjury present in <u>Glosson</u> was much greater than in the instant case.

Id., 586 So. 2d at 321. This Court went on to state:

We reiterate that an agreement giving someone a direct financial stake in a successful criminal prosecution and requiring the person to testify in order to produce a successful prosecution is so fraught with the danger of corrupting the criminal justice system through perjured testimony that it cannot be tolerated.

Id.

To summarize, the concern of the <u>Glosson</u> court was that the contingent compensation posed too great of a danger that an innocent person might be convicted. To be compensated, Wilson had to (1) create an opportunity for the defendants to commit a crime, (2) participate in the crime with the defendants by supplying the contraband, and (3) testify in court that the defendants committed the crime. In addition, Wilson's compensation was contingent on a successful prosecution and forfeiture action. Finally, except for a generalized statement that the prosecutor supervised the investigation, there was no evidence that the State took any action to ensure that Wilson would not use improper inducements or pressure or later misrepresent the facts. Since Wilson was to be paid only in those cases wherein his efforts were successful and for which apparently his livelihood was dependent, he had every motive to

- 19 -

induce the commission of the drug offenses with which the defendants were charged and to testify falsely at trial.¹

The instant case is distinguishable from <u>Glosson</u> in two significant ways. First, the defendants in <u>Glosson</u> raised an entrapment defense, but Taylor did not. The informer in <u>Glosson</u>, acting alone, initiated contact with the defendants and supplied them with contraband. The only persons who knew if any impermissible tactics had been used were the parties to the drug deal, and they all had strong motives to lie. By contrast, entrapment was not a defense in the case at bar for the obvious reason that Taylor was a street vendor of crack cocaine. Not only did he supply the contraband, but he supplied it in an environment indicating his readiness and willingness to commit the crime at the first available opportunity. Beyond dispute, had Taylor not sold the crack cocaine to Jefferson, he would have

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